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ADDRESS ON THE PROGRESS OF MEDICAL EDUCATION IN
THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

DURING THE CENTURY COMMENCING IN 1776

BY
N, 8 DAVIS, AM, M.D,,

OF CHICADO, ILLIKOIB.

Frou the date of the firet English settlement in America, which was
in 1607, to the Declaration of fndepmdanm in 1776, thirteen separate
colonies hod been established, embracing the Atlantic Coast from Massa-
chusatts to Georgia inclusive, and sll acknowledging allegiance to the
government of Great Britain, Distributed over thie wide extent of ter-
fitery, thers had accumulated about three millions of people, among
whom there were between three and four thousand engaged in the prac-
tice of medicine. OF these, it has been estimated that not more than
foor hondred had received the degree of Doctor in Medicine from any
wedical college ; and these, with but few exceptions, had received their
colleginte education and honors in the medical schools of Europe. Only
two medieal schools had been organized in the colonies, namely, the
Medical Department of the Cu]lae;u of Philadelphia (now the Medical De-

rtment of the University of Pennsylvania), in 1765, and the Medical

rnrtment of King's (now Columbia) College, in New York, in 1768,

Un; fifty-one medical degrees had been conferred by both of these insti-
tutions prior to 1776, when active operations in thom were suspénded by
the progress of war. Inall the colonies there were not more than twelve
or fifteen cities and towns having over five thousand inhabitants, and
these were 8o widely separated from each other, and possessed of euch
limited means of communication, that attendance on a medieal college,
or on the meetings of medical societies, wae hindered by delaye and diff-
tolties but little thought of at the present day,
_ The same condition of the country compelled many of those practising
in the smaller and more remote settlements to unite other occupations
with their proetice. In the New England Colonies, the offices of physi-
¢lan and clergyman were often united in the same person, and in all the
eolonies it was common for the physician to occupy = part of his time
and increase hia income by agricultural labor,

Notwithstanding all the obstacles presented by the sparseness of the
Mpolation, and the want of roads arn? means of eommunication, a large
proportion of those engaged in practice had attended oune course of medi-
¢l college instruction, and had served a regular apprenticeship with
some practitioner of note, before entering upon the active duties of the
profession, Only thres medical societiea are known to have baen organ-
ized during the coloniol period of our history. The most important of
thise was the Mailical Society of the State of New Jersey, which was
organized in July, 17668, It appears that a few months previcus to this,
a society called the Philadelphia Medicul Society was formed in that

history-of-obgyn.com



266 DAVIS,

city, chiefly through the influence of Dr. John Morgan, whe had returned
from Europe the year previovs. It did not mrg'iﬂy survive the war
for Independence, and 18 not known to bave left any permanent record
of its doings. The Delaware Btate Medical Bocicty was organized in
1776, and hence has o history parallel with that of the independence of
the States,

In nearly all of the colonies, laws had been enacted concerning some
topics of interest to the profession. Most of these laws were designed
either to protect the people of the.colonies from the introduction and
spread of contagions diseases, from injury h;,r ignorant and reckless mid-
wives, or from exorbitant charges by phyeicinus; or for the establish-
ment of hospituls for the sick and insane. In only two of the colonies
had laws been enacted to define the qualifications of physicians and
surgeons, with provisions for enforcing an observance of the same. The
General Assembly of New York, in 1760, ordained that * no person what-
soever shall practise as Physician or Surgeon in the City of New York
before he shall have been examined in Physic and Surgery, and approved
of and admitted by onc of His Majesty’s Council, the Judges of the Sa-

rior Court, the K)'ing'n Attorney-General, and the Mayor of the City of

ew York for the time heing, or by any three or more of them, taking to
their assistance for such examination such proper person or persons as
they in their discretion shall see fit.” Such candidates as were approved
received certificates conferring the right to practise physic or surgery, or
both, thronghout the whole provinee; and a penalty of five pounds was
prescribed for all violationa of this law,! A similar act was passed by
the General Assembly of New Jersey in 1772,

Although most of the colonies had provided temporary hospitals for
seamen, emigrants, and the victime of smallpox and ather epidemic die-
enses, the only permanent general hoaspital for the sick was established
in Philadelphis, in 1752, and was aided by o grant of two thousand
pounds from the Colonial Assembly. Dr. Thomas Bond was appointed
superintendent, with Dra. Lloyd Zachary, Thomas Cadwalader, 3aimuel
P. Moore, John Redman and Phineas Bond, a8 asaociates.

Dr. Thomas Bond, from the opening of the institution, introduced his
class of students for bedside instruction, and thereby became the first
regular elinieal leeturer in America. In 1767, the m{:}nial government
of New York was induced to grant a charter for a general hospital, and
an organization was effected, and the work commenced. DBut the build.
ing when nearly completed was destroyed by ftire, in 1772, and owing to
the eupervention of the Revolotionary wur was not rebuilt until 1791
From this very brief glauce at the condition of medical matters in the
colonics, more ealmcinﬁy in relation to educational facilities, it will be
seen that at the commencement of our history as an independent nation,
in 1776, there were between three and four thousand practitioners of
medicine, uu{:fr\ying about three millions of people, their field of duty
occupying thirteen States, embracing the whole Atluntic comst from
Maine to Florida, and containing two medical colleges, two organized
medical apecieties, and one permanent general hospital. Bmall as were
these hegiunings, they nevertheless eonstituted the germe from which
have since developed all the educational institutions belonging to the
profession in our country.

' Zpa History of Medical Edocation aod Institotions in the United States, by K. B,
Davis, M.D,, p. 22
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The Medical Department of the College of Fhiladelphia, which lhad
been organized in 1765, with Dr. William Shippen, Jr., a8 Professor of
Avatomy and Surgery, and Dr. John Morgan, as Professor of Medi-
cine, had continued regular annual courses of medical instruction until
1776, when the session was broken up by the vicissitudes of war, and
the most valuable movable materials of the eollege were privately re-
moved to places of safety by the provost and members of the faculty,
Previous to this time, Drs. Adam EKuhp and Benjamin Rush had been
added to the medical faenlty of the eollege—the first, as PMofessor of
Materia Medica and Botany, and the second, ns Professor of Chemistiry.
l.:lur'm_g the same time, Dr, Thomas Bond had been lecturing on elintenl
medicine in the Pennsylvania Iospital. On an attempt being mapde to
resume the courses of medical instruction in the College, in 1779, politi-
cal differences and suspiciona enused the State Legislature to pass an aet
shrogating the charter of the enllege, removing its officers, and transfor-
rin%itu property to & new institution, called the * University of the State
of Peonsylvania,” '

The new University was granted s very liberal charter and consider-
shle endowments. The Rev. John Ewing, D.I)., was appointed Provost,
and an effort immediately made to organize s medical department, hy
offering thoae who had held professorships in the College, tl]n- Eane osi-
tions in conmection with the University. Regarding the act of the Legis-
Inture abrogating the charter of the College and confiscating its property
23 anjoet, all but Dre. William Shippen, Jr, refused the offer and eon-
tinged their aonual courses of instroetion independently, bot without
legal authority to confer degrees. The Trustees of the University, find-
ing themselves unable to fill the several medical ehairs sutisfetorily,
sgreed to confer degrees on such students ns should be examined and
recommended by the several professors of the College whose charter had
been abrogated, By this arrangement, st the first public commencement
of the Uniwersity, beld in Philadelphia, June 27, 1780, the decroe of
Bachelor of Medicine was conferred on William W. Smith and Ebenezer
Crosaly, and that of Doctor of Medicine om David Ramsey, who was in
the sereiee of the American Army, and at the time a prisoner in the
hands of the Dritish. These were the first medical degrecs conferred
by auy institution crented under the auspices of oue of the independent

tates of America. Thia atate of antagoniam botween the professors in
the College of Philadelphia and the trustees of the University, con-
tinoed wotil 1789, when, nided by the influence of Benjumin Franllin,
after hia return from Europe ne foreign minister, the former succeeded
ininducing the Srate Legislature to repeal the act of abrogation, and to
restore to the College wil its rights and privileges. This was done in
March, 1789, but it feft the University in existence, with its endowments
from confisented estates the same as before. The officers and fuenlty of
the College of Ihiladelphia were immediately reinstated, with Dr, BGen-
Jamin Franklin himself as president of the Board of Trustees.

In October of the same year, Dr. Jolhn Morgan died, and Dir. Adam
KH'D]! resigned, leaving the chairs of Practice of Medicine, and Materia
Medica and Botany, vacant. The vacancies were immedintely filled,
and the Medical faculty of the College as reorganized for the session of
1788-90, was composed of William Shippen, Jr., M.D., P'rofessor of
Amstomy, Surgery, and Midwifery ; Benjumin Rush, M.I)., Professor of
the Theory and Practice of Physie; Caspar Wistar, M.D., Professor of
Cllemistr_-,r and of Institutes of Medicine; SBamuel P. Griftiths, M. Ik, Pro-
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feszor of Materia Medica and Pharmacy ; Benjamin Smith Barton, M.D.,
Professor of Natural History and Botany, At the same time Dr. Shippen
continued to oceupy the same chairin the University of the State of
Penneylvania, and was joined in that faculty by Dr. Adam Kuhn, io the
Chair of Theory and Practice of Medicioe, and by Dr. James Hutchio-
pon, inthat of Chemistry.

The trustees of the College of Philadelphia not only Teinstated a full
corps of medical professors, but they revised their former rules in regard
to medical requirements for graduation. These rules, as adopted in 1767,

rovided for the conferring of the degrees of Bachelor of Medicine and
octor of Modicine. The student was permitted to apply for the first
efter “a sufficient apprenticesbip to some re;aut-able practitioner in
Physie,” attendance on “at least one course of Lectures on Anatomy,
Materia Medica, Chemistry, the Theory and Practice of Phyeic, oue
course of Clinieal Lectures, and attendance on the practice of the Penn-
sc_;:\'aniu. Hospital oneg year.,” It was expected by the founders of the
llege, that those who took the Bachelor's degree wounld return after
three years of study and practice, and take the higher degree of Doctor.
Expericnee, however, had proved this expectation fallacious, as very few
of those who entered into practice after receiving the first degree, ever
returned for the second. For this reason the Bachelor’s Degree was
abolished, and the revised regulations sdopted for the College by the
trustees, November 17, 1789, and published in the Penusylvania Gazotte
were a8 follows:—

“T. No person shall be received as a candidate for the degree of Doctor of
Medicipe until he has arrived at the age of twenty-one years, and has applisd
himself to the study of medicine in the College for at least two years, These
slindente, eandidates, who may reside in the city of Philadelphia or within fire
miles thereof, must have been the pupils of some respectable practitioner for
the space of three years, and those who may come from the country, and from
any greater distance than five miles, must have studidd with some respectable
physician there, for at least two years

11. Every candidate shall have regularly attended the Lectores of the follow.
fog professors, viz.: of Anntomy and Surgery ; of Chemistry and the Institotes
of Medicine ; of Materia Medica and Pharmacy ; of the Theory and Practice
of Medicine ; the Botanical Lectures of the Professor of Natural History and
Botany ; and a course of Lectures on Natural and Experimental Philoesopby.

111 Each candidate shall signify his intention of graduating to the Dean of
the Medical Fnculty, at least two months before the time of graduation, after
which he shall bo examined privately by the professors of the different branches
of medicine.

IT remitted to bis studies, the professors shall hold themselves bound not to
divolge the same; but if be is judged to be properly qualified, a8 medical ques-
tion and o ease shall ba pruﬂmud to him, the anawer and treatment of which be
ahall submit to the medical professors, I these performances are approved,
the candidate ghall then be gdmitied to a public examination before the Trus
tees, the Provost, YVice Provost, Profesgora amd Students of the College ; after
which lie shall offer to the ingpection of ench of the Medical Professors &
Thesin, written in the Latin or English Language (at his own option) ona
medieal subject. This Thesis, if approved of, is to be printed at the expenss
of the candidate, and defended from such ohjections as may bo made to il by
the Medical Professors at & commencement to be held for the purposa of cop-
ferring degrees, an the first Wednesday in June every year.

Bachelora in Medicine who wiah to be admitted to the degres of Doctor in
Mndi;inc, ghall publish and defend o Thesis agreeably to the rules gbove men-
tioned.
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The different Medical Lectures shall commence annuoally on the first Monday
in November, tho lectures in Natural and Exparimental Philosophy aboot
the same time, and the lectures on Botany on the first Monday in April.

BeEnzamin FrangniN, President of the Board of Trustess.
WiLtrau Swmre, Provost of the Callege and SBeerotary of
the Board of Trostees.”

The Trustees of the University of the State of Pennaylveania sdopted
very similar regulations regarding courses of lectures and time of study
for the degree of Doctor in Medicine, but they continued also to confar
the degree of Bachelor, as before, One hundred and four medical stu- °
dents attended the Lectures in Philadelphia during the College term of
1790-1, and appear to have been nearly equally divided between the
two schools, ‘};fa disadvantages arising from this division of patronage
were too apparent to be overlooked, and the friends of both schools soon
inatituted measures for an amicable union, These niensures resulted in
the passagre of an Act of the Legislature of the State, September 30, 1781,
mﬁtinﬁ the College and the University on the terms which had been
mutoally agreed to by both the parties in interest. The name adopted
for the united institution was the * Upiversity of Pennsylvania.” Dr.
John Ewing was elected Provoat and Profeasor of Nutural and Experi-
mental Philosophy, and all the professors in the medical department of
the two previous institutions were elected professors in the new one.
The full medical faculty of the University, as thus coustituted, was ar-
ranged as follows: William Shippen, M.I)., Professor of Anatomy,
Euger , and Midwifery ; Caspar Wistar, M.D., Adjunct; Adam Kuhn,
M.Ib, Emfmr of Theory and Practice of Medicine ; Benjamin Rush,
M.D., Professor of Institutea of Medicine and of Clinical Medicine;
James Hutchinson, M.D., Professor of Chemistry; Samuel P. Griffiths,
M.D., Professor of Materia Medica and Pharmacy; Benjamin Smith
Barton, M.D., Professor of Botany and Natural History.

The University, as thus reorganized, ceased to coufer the degree of
Bachelor of Maﬁeina, and left it optional with the medical students
whether they should sttend the lectures on Natural History and Botany,
but in all other respects adopted the “ Rules respecting a medical edunea-
tion and the conferring of Degrees in Medicine,” which have been alread
g}:&n as I':Ea.ﬂﬁng been udopted by the Trustees of the College of Philadel-

in in 1789,

Wa have thus sketched briefly the progress of medical instruction from
its incipient beginnings in Phiﬂtdcl ia, to the complete establishment
of the %Iuivemty of %’B-enna Ivania by the formal election of the faculty
above named, in Januvury, 1792, not merely becanse it was the pioncer
school, and one which still continues to exereise an important influence
over the educational interests of our profession, but because it has served
22 the type or pattern for nearliy all the medical schools subrequently
organized in this country. While the cauee of medical education was

gressing, aa we have detailed, in Philadelphia, the profession in New

ork was not idle. We bave stated that, as early as 1767, a charter was
granted by the Colonial government of New York for the establishment
of a General Hospital in that city; that, chiefly through the efforts of
Dra. Samuel Bard and Peter Middleton, a society wus organized, and a
hospital building nearly corapleted, which was destroyed by fire in 1772;
and that the enterprise received liberal pecuniary mid from Sir Henry

! Bee History of the Univernity of Peoosylvunia, by Joseph Carson, M, D, pp. 83-6.
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Moore, the provincial Governor, from the Legislature, from the City
Corporation of New York, and from many private individuale. The
loes of the building by fire, and the speedy supervention of the war for
Independence, prevented all further efforts in that direction until after the
cloge of that war. Soon after this latter event, the corporation konown
na the Society of the New York Hospital was revived, ita work re-
sumed, and adequate hospital buildings completed rendy for cecopation
in 1791, The same persons who had been influential in the primary
effort to establish the Now York Hoapital, also induced the trustees or
. il[l:wcr:mm of King's College, located in New York City, to eatablish a

edical Department of that institution, aud to appoint a full medical
faculty in 1768, This faculty was composed of Swmuel Clossy, M1,
Professor of Anatomy ; John Joues, M.D., Professor of Surgery; Peter
Middleton, M.D., Professor of l“iifaiologl}' and Pathology ; James Smith,
M.I., Professor of Chemistry aud Materia Medica ; John V. B. Tenveunt,
M.D., I'rofessor of Midwifery; and Bamuel Dard, M.D., Professor of
Theory and Practice of Physic.

Bome important differences will he noticed in comparing this faculty
organization with that of the faculty just previously organized in hila-
de%phiu. First, it makes a more complete division of labor, and at once
gives u full recognition to the departwents of Surgery and Midwifery,
pesigning to each a separate professorship on an equality with all other
deportments, instead of making tliem appendages to the more prominent
departments of Avatomy and Theory and Practice of Medicine. In this
respect the New York faculty was in advance, not only of that of the
Pliladeiphin College, but aleo of that of the University of Edinburgh.
Becond, it makes no mention of the departments of Dotany and of Nataral
and Experimental Philosophy., Tbird, as the number of chairs and the
consequent division of labor was greater, the annual college term was
maile shorter by one month ; the term closing in May instead of June in
each year. In all other respects the reF;qut'mna were very similuar to those
adopted by the school in Thiladelphia. The first courses of lectures
were given in the autumn and winter of 1768-9, at the close of which,
in May, 1769, the degree of Duchelor in Medicine was conferred by the
Trusteea of the Collego on Bamuel Kissam and Robert Tucker. Aud at
the close of the sueceeding college term, in May, 1770, the degree of
Doctor in Medicine was conferred on one or both of the same persons.
These are stated by Dr. J. B. Beck, and several other writers, to have
been the first medieal degrees conterred by any college in Amerien. This
in trus, however, only as it relates to the degree of Doctor in Medicine.
For, ue 6 matter of foct, the College of Philadelphis conterred the degrea
of Bachelor in Medicine on ten studente in June, 1768, but did not con-
ter Lhe degree of Doctor in Medicine until June, 1771.

The regular annual courses of medical instruction were continued, and
attended I}J.r small classes of stodents, outil they were interrupted by the
war. During the war, the name of King's College was changed to that
of Columbia College, which it still retains. Soon after the close of the
war an ¢ffort wae made to recstablish the medical department connected
therewith. DBy some misfortune connected with the procuring of sub-
jects for disseetion, & violent popular ontbreak, called the * Doctors’

fab,” was induced, during which the dissecting-room of the college was
broken op, and for three days law and order were teampled under foot.
To counteract, as far s possible, the evil influences thus brought to bear
upon the profession, aud to improve medical ecience, several of the more
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mlerpriaing and younger members of the profession formed a private
pociety, and in 17587 suceeeded in indueing the magistrates of the city to
establish u public free dispensary for the sick poor, Among the more
rominent of those en d in this enterprise wers Dre. William Moore,
Hicholas Romaine, Benjamin Kissam, Wright Post, and Valeotine Sea-
man, They not only gave gratuitous attendance on the poor in the dis-
psary, but in coonection therewith gave lectures on most of the
ranches of medicine; thereby making it the first institution connected
with praetical inatruction in medieine under the corporation of the City
of New York.

Bo great was their success that, in 1790, more than fifty students
attended their instruction, and an unsueccessful attempt was made to
organize an independent school under the name of the College of Physi-
ciaos and Surgeons.  In the autumn of 1781, the private association intro-
duced not lese than sixty students into C{:iumgia College, and thereby
indoced the Legislature of the State to make a grant of $30,000 to the
trustees, for the purpose of enabling them to enlarge their boildings, ete.
In the following year the medical faculty was reorganized by the appoint-
ment of Dirs. ]iiilﬂ 7, Post, Rogers, Hammersly, Nicol, and Kissam, as
professore, and of Dr. Samuel Bard, as Dean of the Faculty. Some of
these appointments were very unsatisfactory to the students, and wera
followed by such & degree of opposition as to greatly interfere with the
prosperity of the College, and to lead many members of the profession in
the city to use their influence in favor of the eatablishment of another
and iuiepen&em medical school,

In accordance with their wishes, the regents of the University of the
State of New York granted a charter for a new college in 1807, to be
lecsted in the city,and called the College of Physicians and Surgeons
of New York. It wae placed onder the control of a board of trustees,
consisting of the whole Medieal Socicty of the city and county of New
York, and the degree of Doctor of Medicine was to be conferred by the
rezents of the University of the State, on the recommendation of the tros-
tees and faculty of the College. Tho first course of lectures was given in
the winter of 1807-8, to a class of fifty-three students. In 1510 the
medical department of Columbia College was finally discontinoed, leay-
ing the College of Physicians and Surgeons the only one in the State,
with a class of students numbering eighty-two, and the following very
able faculty, viz.: Samuel Bard, X .D..%’maident; David Hosack, M.D.,

Vice President and Professor of the Theory and Practice of Medicine and
of Clinical Medicine ; William James Macnevin, M.I,, Professor of Chem-
istry: Samuoel L. Mitchitl, M.Tx, Professor of Materia Medica and Bot-
any ; Valentine Mott, M.D., Professor of Sur ery ; John W. Francis,
ALD., Professor of Obatetrics and Diseases of Women and Children ;
Wright Post, M.D., Professor of Anatomy.

_But instend of that mEid Upmaperity which the friends of the institu-
tion and the regents of the University now anticipated, the very numer-
ous board of truatees, being mostly medieal practitioners in the imme-
diate vicinity of the College, soon became distracted by opposing councils,
and jealousies arose between them and the members of the faculty, which
cinsed much difficnlty and greatly retarded the prosperity of the college,
These defects were mrr&ctefiu subsequent years, and the institution has
’;Ell’lnl.&"lnad a good reputation aud leading influence down to the present

ime,

In 1763, the medical department of Harvard College, in Cambrid—
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near Boston, was organized by the appointment of John Warren, M.T0,,
Professor of Anatomy and Burgery; Asron Dexter, M.D., Professor of
Chemistry and Materia Medica ; and Benjamin Waterbounse, M.I)., Pro-
feesor of the Theory and Practice of Medicine. The medical department
of Dartmouth College, at Hanover, New Hampshire, was organized in
1797, chiefly throu }% the influence of Dir. Nathan Smith, who was ap-
inted Professor of Medicine,and for ten or twelve years taught all the
ranches of medicine with signal ability. The medical dopartment of
the University of Maryland,at Baltimore, was incorporated in 1807, and
waa supplied with an able faculty, consisting of John B. Davidge, M.D.,
FProfessor of the Principlea and Practice of Surgery, and Nathaniel Pot-
ter, M.D., Professor of the Theory and Practice of Medicine, assisted by
Drs. Bhaw, of Maryland, avd Cooke, of Virginis.

By the foregoing brief historical statements it will be seen that durinﬁ
the first thirty years after the close of the war for Independence, whic
included the first decade of the present century, seven medical schoola
bad been organized, namely, two in Philadelphia, two in New York City,
one in Boston, one in Hanover,and one in Baultimore. The two in Phila-
delphin had been apeedily united into one, and one of those in New York
bad been discontinued. We find, theretore, only five medical schools in
existence in the United Btates in 1810, with an agpregate namber of
medical students in attendance of about 650, of whom about 100 received
in that year the degree of either Bachelor or Doctor of Medicine, Two-
thirde of this whole number were in the University of Pennaylvania.
Only two poblic general hospitals bad been established, namaly, the
Pennsylvania Hospital in Philadelphia, and the New York Hoapital i
New York City.! The former was a very important aid to the Univer
aity in attracting students to Philadelphia, by the clinical inatroction
twhich it afforded, as inaogurated by e, Thomuas Bond soon after it was
opened for the reception o% patients,

All but one of these medical schools were organized as departments of
eollegea or universities of literature and science, already eatablished, and
all but the one began with a smal]l nomber of professors, making it neces-
pary that one man should teach two, and sometimes thres, branches of
medicine during each annual college term. For this reason more than
any other, the medieal eollege terme were made to enmmence generally
on the first of October,and to eontinue until the following May or June.
All these achools adopted, at firat, the policy of conferring the degree of
Bachelor of Medicine on students who lad studied medicine with some
reputable practitioner not less than two years, and had attended the
medieal instruction in the college one year, or rather one college term ;
aund the degree of Doctor of Medicine after three years of study and two
annoal college terms. It must be remembered that, during the colo-
nial period of our history, and for thirty or forty years subsequent to
the achievement of our Nitional Independence, it was the universal cus-
tom for young men who entered upon the study of medicine to become
regularly apprenticed to some practitioner for a term of three or four
years, duriug which time the preceptor was entitled to the student’s ser-

' Bince the above was written, wo bave learned that, io 1784, Don Andras Almonaster
commenced the erection of o public or general hespital in the city of New Orleans, oo the
site of the one blown down in the greatatorm of 1779. It was called the New Charity
Heapltal, and cost §114,000. As Louisians became one of the States of our Union, by par-
chase, in 1803, this Charity Hospital shonld have been incloded with those of Philadelphis
sod New York mentioned ehove,
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vices in preparing and dispensing medicines, extracting teeth, bleeding,
aud other minor surgical operations, and, when more advanced in studies,
i attending on the sick ; and,in return, the preceptor became obligated
to give thestodent detailed and thorough instruction in all the branches
of medicine. Many of the more eminent practitioners often had several
studeuts in their offices at one time, constituting a amall class who were
drilled almost us regularly in their studies as they would be in a evllege.
In some instunecea the term of apprenticeship was extended to six and
even seven years, and was made to commence at the enrly age of fifteen
or sixteen years, All these customes were brought by the emigrants from
the parent eountry, and their perpetuation here was rendered more neces-
sary by the sparscuess of the population and the difficulty of access to
medical schools.t

In the midst of such costoms, and at a period in the world’s history
when railroads, steamboats, and other means of apeedy transit were un-
known, and even post-coaclies were rare, it was entirely reasonable that
the first idea of n medical college should be to furnish the means fora
mpid review of the several branches of medieal seience, aided by such
experiments aud applinnces for illustration as could be commanded, and
the whole concentrated into as small o purt of the year as possible. TlLe
idea of the founders of medienal schoals, both in Great Britain and in this
country, was to make them supplement but not supersede the work of the
preceptor and the medical approntice. The study of anatomy by dissec-
tions, the illustration of chemistry by experiments, the elinical observa-
tion of disease at the bedside, were capable of being carried on in the
offices. of preceptors, only to a very limited extent. But by eombining
several preceptors, each eminently gualified in some one department, in
aeollege ﬁtcuI]t}', with access to anatomical rooms, chomieal laboratory,
und hospitals for the sick, all the branches of medicine then recognizud
could be very well reviewed in the form of didactic instruction, in five
ur 5ix months of the year. It was expressly to supply the wants here
indicated, with the greatest economy of time and lubor, that the medical
department of the Univareity of Edinbureh was founded in the beginning
of the eightecnth century, and conferred ita firet degree of Doetor of
Medicine in 1705. It rose rapidly to distinction among the achools of
Europe,and furnished the model after which the first medical sehools in
this conntry were organized ; as it was the Alma Muler of nearly all their
first profesgors.

Asauming that the student would serve from two to four years of his
apprenticeship to bis preceptor, befure resorting to a medical school. the
feveral professors wery naturally arranged their courses of instruetion to
begin nearly at the same time, generally in September or October, and to
be completed in time for the public commencement and conferring of de-
grees in the following May or June.  And as the Bachelor’s degree was
generally conferred atter attendance on one full conrse of eollege instruc-
tion in the several branches taught, no gradation or consecutive order of
studies conld be incorporated into the college course.  The addition of
one or two years more of study, incloding a second course of college in-
struction, entitled the applicant to an examination for the degree of Doe-
tor of Medicine. At the first organization of all the madical echools to
which we have thus fur alluded, provision was made for conferring the
degrees of both Bachelor and Doctor of Medicine, But, as already men-

! Ml'%nntr]bnliW! to the Aooals of Medical Progress, ete., by J.-M. Toner, M.D.
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tioned, the degree of Bachelor was abandoned by the College of Phila-
delphia in 1789, and by the University of Pennsylvania in 1781, and by
all the medical eolleges in the country after 1813. The whole number
of medical degrees conterred by the seven medical schonls whose origin
we have traced, prior to 1810, did not exceed six hundred. Very many,
however, served their regular apprenticeship with the preceptor, attended
one course of college instroetion, and entered upon practice without a
college degree; and there were not a few who entered upon the respon-
sible duties of practice with simple certificates from their preceptors,
without ever having seen the inside of & eollege building.

We shall not fully appreciate the relations of the medical schools to
the needs of the profession at that time, unless we consider also the coin-
cident condition of the different branches of medical science. To the
active workera of the present generation, & medical college with only
three or four professors, or one professor attempting to teach anatomy,
surgery, and midwifery, all in one college term of five or six months,
would appear hardly less than absurd. If we remember, however, that
down to the commencement of the present century, the principal medical
svorks in use were the writings of Bydeoham, Boerhaave, and Cullen,
the Physiology of Haller, the Avatomy of Cheselden or Monro, the Sor-
gery of Sharp, Pott, or Jones, the Midwifery of Smellie or Hunter, and
the Materia Medica of Lewias, we shall readily see that the field of med-
i-:a!datudy was Jimited in comparison to that which now opene before the
atudent.

At that time, surgery had only heguo to be recognized as a distinct
branch from anntnm%. We learn from an iotroductory lecture by James
Spence, F.R.CE.E, Mrofessor in the University of Edinburgh, that “so
late as 1777, when the College of Surgeons petitioned the patrons to in-
stitute n separate professorship of surgery in the University, they were
opposed by Monro, then Professor of Anatomy, as iuterfering with his
branch ; and be succeeded in getting his commission altered so as o in-
clude surgery, which was thus made o mere adjunct of the anatomical
coorse, and continued to be so taught (if it could be said to be taonght
until the institution of the chair of Borgery in 1831L" It was not unti
June 4, 1805, that Surgery wos separated from the chair of Anatomy
by the appointment of Dr. Philip Syng Physick as Professor of Surgerry,
on an equality with the other professors in the University of Penneylva.
nia. The department of Midwifery was still later in gaining itien
a8 & distinct branch of medicine. At the request of Dr. Caspar Wistar,
who had suceeeded to the professormship of Anatomy and Mﬁwii'ﬂry in
the University on the death of Dr. Shippew, in 1808, the trustees sepa-
rated the chairs, and in 1810 appointed Dr. Thomus Chalkly James the
first Professor of Midwifery in rlmt College, And yet it was not until
three years later, October 11,1813, that he waa formally recognized as
o member of the faculty, and uttendance on his lectures rendered obligs-
tory upon the students who applied for graduation. In New York, how-
ever, midwifery was recognized as o distinet branch at a muoch earlier

pericd than in any of the other cities in which mediecal schools had been
organized ; for in the first mediea] faculty appointed in conpeetion with
King'a College, in 1768, Dr. John V., B, 'i:eunent was made Professor of
Midwifery, apparently on an equoal footing with all the other professors

The foregoing facts are sufficient to show the limited fiald of medical
science at the beginning of the preseut century, compared with the same
field at the present time. If this is boroe in mind, it will be ssen that
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the five medieal schools, embracing the medical departments of the
UCniversity of Peunsylvania, Harvard College, near Boston, Dartmouth
College, at Hanover, the University of Maryland, at Baltimore, and the
College of Physicians and Surgeons, nt New York, which were either re-
organized or founded de nove during the Brst thirty years of our history
#3 an independent nation, were established on as liﬁaml a basis, and were
ss well adapted to the then existing wants of the profession and the peo-
jle, a8 any that have been organized since. As a geucral rule, they com-
meneed with a small nomber of professors, but ss the different LprE.Tta
ments of professional knowledge became better developed, and the work
of instruction better systematized, there was manifested that tendency to
make divisions of labor by the creation of new chairs, which has con-
tinned to the present time. In this respect the University of Pennsyl-
vanis, a8 the leading school, way be taken as a representative of all the
ret,  Commencing with only two professors, Drs. Morgan and Shippen,
sided by the elinical instruction of Dr. Bond in the Lospital, in 1765,
the number was increased by the addition of the chairs of Chemistry and
Materis Mediea, in 1768-9; and on the merging of the College of Philu-
delphia with the University of the State -.:f‘li’cmmj'lvu nin,in 1791-2, the
nowber of ¢hairs was increased to six, by the addition of professorahips
of Institutes of Medicine, and of Botany and Natural History. A fur-
ther nddition took place by the ereation of a separate chair of Sargery,
in 1805, and one of Midwifery, iu 1810. From the year just named the
nomber of medical schools began to inerease with great rupidity.

A medieal department was eatablished in counection with ‘1{11e Col-
lege, in New Hawen, in 1810, but the firat course of instruetion was not
commenced until 1813,  In 1812, the Regents of the University of the
State of New York incorporated the College of Physicians and Surgeons
of the Weatern District, located in Fuairtield, Herkimer County. The
Vermont Academy of Medicine, located at Castleton, Verniont, received
i charter from the Legislature of that State in 1818. The same year, &
medical school was organized as a department of Transylvania Jni?ar-
sity, at Lexington, Kentucky, chiefly through the influeice of Des. Dud-
ley, Richardson, and Blythe, In January, 1819, the Legislnmre of Chio

d an act incorporating the Medical College of Ohilo, in Cincinnati.
i 1820, the Medieal School of Maine was organized aa n department of
Bowdoin College, at Brunswick, Maine, with a faculty consisting of D,
Nathan Smith, John D. Wells, and Parker C'In:-n':'elmu-j. In 1821, o medi-
tal school was organized in connection with Brown University, at Provi-
dence, Rhode Tslumd, but was soon after discontinued, The medical
school of the University of Vermont was established in Borlington, in
1822 A achool called the Berkslire Medical Institute, was organized
in Pittsfield, Massachusetts, under the charter of Williams College, in
1828. The Medical College of South Caroling was established in Charles.
ton, in 1824, and supplieﬁ with a full corpa of professors, including the
wellknown names of Drs. Ramsey, Holbrook, Dickson, Prioleau, Frost,
Ravenal, and Elliot. The Medical Department of Columbian College, in
the District of Columbia, was organized in 1823, chietly through the in-
fluence of Dra. Thomas Sewall and Frederick May, of Washington.

In the winter of 1825, the Legislature of the State of Peunsylvania
paased an act under which a new medical school was organized in Phila-
d!lszia, in connection with a literary institution called Jetferson College,
at Lanonsburg ; and hence the new medieal school took the name of Jef-
terson Medical College, and, in its progress since, has attained
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ity and influence equal to that of the best medienl eolleges in this country.
The Medical Department of the University of Virginia, located at Clar
lotteaville, in that State, was organized in 1825, aund has continoed to the
present time, teaching the different branches of medigine in the same man-
ner ae the various brunches of scicnee are taught in other departments of
tho institution, The medieal school of the Valley of Virginia was estab-
lished ut Winchester, Virginia, in 1826, on nearly t{m same plan as the Med-
ieal Depmrtment of the {ﬁﬁ‘m raity, at Charlotteaville. It attracted Luta
small number of students, and appears to have been diseontinued several
years since. In 1827, the Washington Medicn] College was organized in

altimore, on the same plan as the majority of American medical colleges.
The Medical College of Georgin, located at Augusta, was incorporated by
an aet of the Legislature of that State in 1530, and the first course of
instruction wae given in 1832-3. The Willoughby University, in Olio,
was chartered in 1834, and ite firrt eourse of instruction commenced in the
antumn of 1835. The Medieal Department of the University of Louisi-
ann, At New Orleans ; the Medieal Institution of Geneva College, at Ge
neva, New York ; the Medical Department of Cincinnati College, Cin-
einnati, Obin; and the Vermont Moedical Schonl, at Woodstoek, Ver
miont, were chartered by the Legislatures of the reapective States in which
they were loeated in the year 1835,

The Medieal Department of the University of Louisville, Kentucky,
was organized in 1887, and the Medienl Dr:Pnrtm{mt of the University
of the City of New York, the came yenr, The Medical Ihpartment of
Humpden %i.{hm:,' College, nt Richmond, Virginia, was organized in 1838,
The Albany Medical College, at Allwny, New York, and the Medical
Department of Pennsylvania College, at Philadelphia, in 1839, The Mis
souri Medieal College, nt St. Louis, Missourd, was organized in 1840, and
the St. Lonts Medical College, in the same city, in 1841, Tho Legisla-
ture of Illinois granted o charter for the Rusli Medieal College, in Chi-
eago, in 1837, but a faculty was not organized for instruction until 1843,
The Cleveland Medical College was nrsnniz.ed at Cleveland, Ohio, in
1843. The Medical Department of the University of Buffulo was organ-
ized in Buffulo, New York, in 1846, The Starling Medical College and
Hoapitn] was organized at Colombue, Olio, in 1847, The Medienl De-
partment of the University of Michigan, at Ann Arbor, was instituted
in 1849, The Medical Department of the University of Nashville, at
HNaehiville, Tennessee ; the College of Physicians and Surgeons, at Heo-
kuk,Towa ; and the Wonan's Medical College of Pennsylvania, at Phila-
-']el}‘:hin, were arganized in 1850.

The Medical College of Virginia, at Richmond; the Medieal Depart-
ment of Georgetown University, nt Wushington; and the Cincinnati
College of Medicine and Burgery, at Cincinuati, were created in 1831
The Savannah Medical College, at Bavannal, Georgia, and the Miami
Medieal College, at Cincinnati, were eatablished in 1852, The Atlanta
Medieal College was commenced at Atlanta, Georgia, in 1855, The
Medieal College of the Paeifie, at San Francisen, was organized in 1858,
The Chicago Medicul Cﬂ"fgﬂ,tjrlﬂdj('!l] Department of the Northwestern
University, was organized in 1858, The Medical College of Mobile, Ala-
bama, and the Long Island College Hospital, in Brooklyn, New York,
were organized in 1860. The Bellevue Hospital Medical College was
established in the city of New York in 1861. The Woman's Medical
College of the New %ﬂrk Infirmary, located in the city of New York,
was created in 1864, The Medical Depuartiment of Willaniette University,
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located at Salem, Oregon, was commenced in 1866. The Medieal Depart-
ment of Howard University was orgunized in 1867, The Mediceal Depart-
ment of the University of South Caroling, at Colurabia, and the Detrois
Medieal College, at Detroit, Michigan, were commenced in 1868, The
Medieal Depurtment of the University of Wooster, at Cleveland, Olio;
the Eansus City College of Physicians and Surgeons, nt Kansas City,
Missouri ; the Louisville Mediex]l College, at Louisville, entueky 5 the
Medical Department of the Iowa State University, at Lowa City; and
the Medical Depurtment of the Indiaus University, ut Tudianapolis, all
Lad their begiuning in 1869,

The Woman's Heapital Medieal College, at Chicago, anil the Medieal
Department of Linenln University, nt Oxford, Pennsylvanin, were organ-
ized in 1870, The Free Medieal College for Women was organized in
the eity of New York in 1871, The Medieal College of Evansville,
Indiann, was chartered in 1846, and reorganized in 1872, The College
of Physicians and Surgeons of Syrucuse University, at Syracnse, New
York, and the College of Physicianeg aud Surgeons at Wilmington, North
Carolina, were incorporated in 1872, The Medical Departimcut of the
University of Californin, at Sun Francisen, was first organized under the
name of the Toland Medical College in 1864, and became o department
of the University in 1873, The Medien] College of the University of the
State of Missouri, at Columbin, Missouri, and the Texns Medieal College
and Hoapital, at Galveston, Texas, were organized in 1873, Medieal
echoola have recently been established in Portlund, Maive, aud in Balri-
!:“T Maryland, the exact dates of the formations of which ure not at

and.

From the foregoing statistics we learn that, doring the thivty yveanrs
intervening between the close of the war for Independence aml 1810,
seven medical schonls were organized ; in the thirty years intervening
between 1810 and 1840, twenty-six new medical colleges were addel to
the list; in the thirty-five years ginece 1840, the nomber of vew mediel
schouls created is forty-seven ; muking the whole nomber of medical edu-
cational inatitutions established in the United States, during the fiest
century of our history a3 a nation, eighty. We have not ineluded in
these numbers five or gix mere aliwrtive attempts to form wedicn] sehools
in diferent localities, but which were so transient as to leave o reeond
dilficnlt to trace.  Of the eighty which have been estublished, seventeen
buve been discontinued or suspended, leaving, at this dute, sixty-threo
wedieul enlloges now in detive operation in this eountry. Of these, Maine
has two, New Hompshire one, Vermont three, Mussuchusetta one, Cope-
necticut one, New York nine, Penuaylvania three, Muryloul three, Vir-
givia two, South Carclivg one, Georgia three, Alahuioa one, Louisiana
two, Texas one, Tennessee one, Keutucky three, Missourd three, Culitor
nia two, Orezon one, Iowa two, Illinoia three, Indinnn three, Olito seven,
Michigan two, and the District of Columbia three, leaving thirteen
Btates without any medical college mow in operation.  Four of the
echools included in the foregoing list, namely, two in New York City,
one in Philadelphia, and oue in Chicago, nre estublished for the exelusive
education of woinen in medicine. The whole number of students attend-
ing the medical eolleges in 1810 was aboat 650, of whom abiout 100 gradu-
ated ut the close of the enllega terma for that year. The population of the
Cuited States at that time was 7,239,881, In 1840, the whole number
of stodents in the colleges wus about 2300, of whom aboot 800 rocoiviedl
the degree of Doctor of Medicine. The population of the United Siate
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in that year was 17,069,458. During the college terma for 1875-6, the
whele nomber of medical students in attendance on tho coileges was
6650, of whom 2200 received the degree of Doctor of Medicine. The
populntion of the States at this time is over 40,000,000. Without
claiming absolute aceurney for the foregoing figures, they are sufficiently
elnae tor all the porposes of comparison. And they show elearly, notwith-
standing nll that hae been said nbout the rapid multiplication of medieal
schoals, and the incrensed numbers of students and graduates, thut the
colleges and the students, during the last thirty-five years, have increased
in o ratio only about equal to the ineresse of the popualation of the enuntry.
The whole number oﬁ.lh ose engaged in tenching ae professors in the severnl
medical colleges, at this time, ia about five hundred.!
Ag han been already stated, the origin of medieal schools in this country
was solely fromi individual efforts, put forth from time to time, as the
ambition of the individuals or the supposed wants of the country
demanded, anil not from any wet]-diglfnted scheme or official plan of
professional education adopted either by the States or by the General
Government. The same remark is true, not only of their origin, but
also of their eontinuance and multiplieation to the present time. When-
ever and wherever the Legislature of any oneof our Stutes has been asked
to grant a clmrter for u medienl college, as & rule the request has heen
complied with. And in the few instauces in which such requests huve
been denied, the parties interested have seldom fonnd difienlty in forming
s connection with sume literary eollege or univeraity, already having
suthority to grant degrees in mediciue, s well 88 in general ecience.
Bome of the State Legislutures, in nddition to liberally grauting charters
for medical m”%;m' hinve also occusionally appropriated a few thousand
dollars to aid in the ercetion of suitable Luildings, but rurely, if ever, to
andow professorships, or to defray any of the current expenses of such
institutions,  In the State TUniversity of Michigan, and posdbly in one or
two other State Universities, the medical professorships, like those of the
other depurtments, ure sustained h;,' the income from the genern] endow-
ment, independent of the fees derived from the medicn] students, Wa
may sy, in generul terms, therefore, that the whole system of medical edu-
cution in this country, represented to-day by sixty-three medical colleges
digtributed wmong twenty-four difterent States, sostained by the active
work of over tive ﬁumlred professors, and avnually aiding in the education
of nearly seven thousund students, 1s the spontancous outgrowth of the
profession itself, self-relinnt, and almost wholly selfsostained, Originating
among u free puople, nnder the agis of various educationally independent
Btates, npparently striving to keep puce in the increase of their number
and efficiency with a population which, in one short century, has increased
from three millions to forty milllons, and extended over o territory from
the Atlantic to the Pacifie, und from the great interior Lukes to the Galf,
under circumstances of the freest competition, these sclionls constitute a
subjjoet worthy of the most eareful study,

To what extent have these schools Leon adapted to the real wants of
the profession and crlscuplﬂ of these Biates? Wherein have thoy fuiled to
keep themnselves adjusted to these newds or wants, as the country has

' In the above statistics we have not included colleges or schools for teaching oxclusivelr
dentistey or rhtrm-.:cy, or exclosive dogmas in medicine.  Of the first thera ara eleven ; of
the second, thirteen ; of the third thers are thres, called Eelactis, and cight or nise, Homee-
pathic
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alvanced to the present time? If failures in adjustment have taken
pluce, in what do they consist, and how can they be remedied? Let me
ask & continuance of your patient attention, while T answer as hriefly
and directly as posaible these most important questions, and my task will
be done.

We have already seen that our medical enlleges had their origin at a
time wheu medical science and art occupied a far narrower field than
at present. A time when obstetrics wns yet mostly in the honds of
onlettered midwives; surgery an appendage to anatomy; organic che.
mistry, histology, and even physiology, as now recognized, hardly known,
A time, too, when it was the universal practice for regular students of
medicine to apprentice themselves to private preceptors of reputation,
from whom they expected to receive the greater purt of their professional
education, The great and pressing need, at that time, waa for sechools in
which, after gaining & knowledge of the text-books, the rude pharmacy
of his preceptor’s office, and the individusl experience of the preceptor
bimself, during two or three of the first years of his study, the student
could review Lhe whole in conneetion witg such experimentul demonstra-
tinoe as eould be given only in the luboratory, the dissecting roont, awdl
the clinical wards of the public hospital. It was to supplement, not
soperseda, the work of the private preceptor.

Precisely this was what the medical schaols were adjusted to do, and

they fulfilled the object well. Hence, although originating in different
Btates, wholly independent of each other, and in direct rivalry for patron.
sge on which they depended for support, they were remarkably similur
in their organization und requirements. At firet, the number of profes-
sors was small, and the college term eight or nine months, offering the
Bachelor's Decree nfter three yeurs' !tuvf',‘. and one callege term, and the
Doctor's Degree aftor one or two more yeara, und a second course of col-
lege attendance. DBut aa moat of the students lived in smull towns aml
country distriets remote from the colleges, making attendance on the
lectares both tedious and expensive, only a Fart. of thnee engaging in the
stody of medicine ever reached u medical eollege, and most of these, after
taking the Bochelor's Degree, never returned to take a second course umid
the higher degree of Doctor. These cirouinstances constituted a strong
inducement. for the collegua to concentrate the annual peried of instroe.
tion into ae short & tinie as possible, both for the purpese of inercasin
the number of students who could sitord the means of attending, E1I§
the number who would take the secoud degree. Under these influences,
the first thirty years sufficed to cuose the Bachelor's Deeree to be aban-
doned by all tfle echools, the number of professors in each to ba doubled,
and the length of the aunwval eollege term to be shortened one-third,
And in twenty-five years mure, from the ramo causes, nided efficiently
by the fact that the degree conferred by the colleges became practicall
!‘w}nizﬁd everywhere as a sufficient license to practise medicine in all
its departments, the colleges, with but one exception worth noting, had
each trom five to seven professorshipa occupied by as many different pro-
femors, and un annual college term of only from twelve to sixteen weeks,
1ilill"lrrg which the students, 1n one claas, ﬂutﬁn&d to from five to six lec-
tares daily, on as many different topics, besidea attending to dissections
and clinical instroction when such were nceessible.

The requirements for the Doctor’s Degree were, three years stady with
wme regular practitioner of medicine, including attendance upon two
such courses of college instruction, the one being chiefly a repetitior ~°
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the other; the writing of a thesis on some medieal subject ; the possession
of a ﬁo-m:l moral eharacter; the attainment of twenty-one years of age;
and the surtaining of & ereditable examination in the several branches of
medicine at the close of the second course of lectures. It will be seen
that, in_these requirementa, there was no reference to any standard of
rm]iminarycducarian to be attained by the atudent before entering upon
1is professional studies, except the ability to write a thesia. The require-
ment of a knowledge of the ancient langnages, and the writing of a thesia
in the Latin language, were abandoned on the full reorganization of the
University of Fenneylvania, in 1782, The relinguishment of natnral

hilosophy, natural history, and botany, as requirements, soon followed,
eaving anly the single indirect trace of any non.professional edoeation,
to which we have alluded. Under these conditions and tendencies, by
the end of the second thirty yenrs of our history, the number of medieal
eolleges had incrensed from five to forty-one; the number of students
uttending them from pix hundred and fifty to twenty-five hundred, and
the ratio of those graduating, ench year,from less than one in six, to one
in three.

Ilere we see a system of medical colleges originating spontaneously to
aupply the wante of & free and vapidly incressing people, and opan to the
mmat free and unrestrained r'nrnﬁ'y,aﬂtively developing two apparently
apposite results.  In one direction, the schools justly vie with each other
in increasing the number of their professora in full consonance with the
rapid advancement of medieal sciences; they eagacinnsly seek ont and
enlist the services, as tenchers, of the most learned, eloquent, and indns-
trious men to be found in the profession ; they spend time and money
freely in filling laboratories, anatomical rooms, and museums with all the
means for efficient teaching and illustration. So far their free rivalry
has reference only to their office su teaching bodies—institutions for im-
purting instruction—and is productive nnl{ of the highest good to the
profersion and the people, DBut the anomaly consists in the fact that, at
the smne time, the same institutions have heen rapidly shortening their
anmuul courses; cutting off all collateral requirements; failing to grade
the branchies of medical study, us they have increased in number and ex-
tent, 8o ua to adapt them to the severnl years of pupilage; and even re.
ducing the tinal examinations to the simple process of asking a few oral

uestions in the mysterious * green room,”  This most unfortunate ten-
14-:1:;3- of our experiment in permitting the freest rivalry in the estal-
lisliment of medical schools, reanlts directly und necesaarily from the
faet that the degrees they confer, and the diplomas they give, have been
permitted thronghout the whole country, with only a few temporary ex-
veptions, to have all the force and etfect of a license to practize medicine,
It requires but a moderate fumilinrity with the molives that govern
human actions, to sce clearly that in & country where there are no entail-
ments of estates, and where the preat body of young men who seek the
profession are without pecuninry fortune, and lurgely dependent on their
own industry for the means of edueation, as woll ne reputation and for-
tone in after life, the question * where can I get the degres of doctor,
which is equivalent to a license to practice, and a full admisaion into the
ranks of LLe medical profeasion in the shortest time, and econvequently
with the lenat expenditure of time and inoney " exerts a very great, if
not eontrolling influence, in determining whaere the student shall attend
liin college fustruetion,

Not thut medicul students are 8 whit less conseientious, in their desire
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tn fully gualify themselves for the reapona'rh]e duties of our profession,
than those who seek any other ealling 1 life. But present necessity, or
even eonvenience, easily controls when there comes with it the flattering
thought that, at another time, after having earned a little money by
practice, all deficiencies can be supplied by a scason of reviewing ina
echenl of the largest facilities. Just on this halftunconscious delusion,
hundreds are induced to go where the requirements in time and money
are least, regardless of allgu:rther advantages, The medical college v s
coontry village, remote from all facilities for clinieal instruction in
boepital or dispensary, und but seantily sapplied with sulijecta for dissce-
tion, ean issue to its graduoates just as large a diploma, eonched in just
as unintelligible Latin, and having much the same influence with the
people, ms the school in o metropolitan eity, where its students ean hava
the largeat facilitiea for clinical and practical study. 1lence it is not
strange that, before the end of the seventh decade of the pust century of
our exiatence as a nation, about forty medical collagea had been organized,
only sixteen of which were so located as to afford their students any
proper facilities for clinical instruction; and that these sixteen were
attended by little more than one-third of the whole number of those whe
attended medieal colleges.

The general acceptance of the college diploma as full admission into the
profession, thereby mlitinr in the hands of the same men the business of
teaching and the power of licensing, has continued to the present doy ; nnd
is wholly responsible for the fuct that, while we have sixty-three medieal
rolleges to-day, one third of them are so Incated that they can attord
their students no advantages for elinical instruetion worthy of mention ;
and all, except threa or four, still attempt to crowd instruction in all the
departments of medicine upon the attention of mixed or ungraded classes,
in anniual college terme of from sixteen to twenty weeks, und exnct only
twosnch strictly repetitional eourses for graduation. This state of things,
in regard to our medical schoals, s made still worse by the fuct that,
during the century under consideration, the system of private medieal
papilage has undergone a eomplete change, At the beginning of that
period, a8 we have alrewdy secen, the private study, under & master, was
& protracted and serious work, and the resort to the eollege was simply
to review and more fully illustrate that work, DBut steadily, as medieal
eollegea increased in number, as populations beenme more dense, and as
steamboats and railroads inerensed a thoasand fold the facilitiea for travel,
the work of private pupilage relaxed. Indentures of medical atudents, ns
popils. o the mare noted practitioners, long since censed, and the relations
of student and preceptor have become merely nominal in practice, in nine
canes out of ten consisting in little more than the registry of the student’s
nsme in the doctor's office, permission to read the books of his library or
not as he chooses, and the giving of a certificate of time of study for the
stmlent to take to the medical college where he axpecta to graduate.

The relative position of the private pupilage and the collegiate atudica
has undergone n complete practieal reversal. The latter, instead of
reviewing and supplementing the former, has become the student’s chief
reliance for the acquisition of medieal knowledge; and henece, to huve
maintained its adaptation or adjustment to the needs of the profession,
should bave not only increased the number of its professors and its means
for communicating knowledge, but alzo the length of its annual courses,
and the division or gradation of its classes in scenrdance with their period
of stuily, wid in propertion to the greatly enlurged feld of medical know-
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ledre to be mequired. And such wouold have been, to-day, the grand
result worked out by our experiment of self-originating, Eei};"-suataining.
and unrestricted competition in the estnblishment and maintevance of
medical schools, had they been restricted to their only appropriate fune-
tion #s institutions for imparting medical imstroetion and advancin
medieul seience, instead of being hampered and perverted from their
oatural course by wssuming the office of licensing institutions. And
eould this incubus be removed to-day, auother quarter of & century would
oot paes before every medical college in vor country would have its annoal
course of instruction extended to six meonths; its curriculum and classes
8o graded that the attention of each student should be restricted to such
branches g8 are adapted to his period of advancement in study ; and nice
tenths of all our medical students would be in attendance on those eolle
only that could atford proper facilities for full clinical and demonstrative
instruetion.

Let the only question presented to the mind of the student, when
choosing the college he aﬁnll attend, be where ¢an he most certainly
obtain that amount and variety of medical knowledge which will enable
him succesafully to pass the examination of an independent board of
exuminers, acting under liberal and enlightened roles and modes of
testing the student’s knowledge, and we shull have nothing to fear either
from the number, or the rivalry, of our medical schools, The injorious
tendencies of onr system of uniting the work of teaching and that of
licensing to practise, in an unlimited number of independent medical
colleges, was seen at an early period, and clearly pointed out; and by
none more clearly and foreibly than by some of those engaged in the
colleges themselves,

So true is this that the Leyrislatures of some of the States, in organiz-
ing and regulating their respective State Medical Societies, made some
ineffectunl attempts to leasen the evil by legialation. This was particu-
larly true in South Carolina, Maryland, Delaware, Massuchusctts, and
New York., As early as 1839, at an annual meeling of the Medical 5o
ciety of the State of New York, the following resolution was reported
by & committes, and, after free discussion in the Society, was adopted
by a vote of fourteen to four: *Resolved, That the right of teaching
ought to be separated as much as possible from the power of conferring
degrees or licenses.”” The following year a committee, consisting of D
James R. Manly, of New York City, T. Romeyn Beck, of Albany, and
John MeCall, of Utien, submitted to the same Society an able and inter-
esting report on the whele subject of medical education, in which ocours
the following cautious but significaut language: “But in view of the
diploma becoming depminluﬁ by the rapid estublishment of new schools,
it way well become # question deserving serious consideration, whether
st uo distant period the rights of teaching und licensing should not be
digioined. An incidental difficulty to the adojption of this auggestion, is
the fuct that we are surrounded by institutions in other States, which
might or might not follow it, and thus our students be indueed to desert
our own colleges.'

In 1837, the same view was advocated by some of the ablest members
of the profession in Philadelphis, and they proceeded so far as to organ-
ize an inatitution for the pur of examining eandidates and of confer-
ring degrees, wholly iudependent of the business of teuching. A petition

' Bee Trausactioos of the New York State Medical Society for 1840,
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gizned by one hundred and twenty-six physicians, residents of that city,
was presented to the Legislature of the State, wsking for a charter giving
legal effect to their organization, but the charter was not granted and the
project failed,

In 1844, the subject was again brought prominently under diseussion
in the meeting of the New York State Medical SBociety, by him who now
aiddresses you. The discussion of the same subject was continued in the
annual meeting of 1843, and resulted in the call issuwed by that society
for & convention of delegates from all the medical colleges and societies
in the United States, wﬁich was held in New York, in Maiv, 1846, and
from which originated the American Medical Association. I make these
historical allusions to show that neither those engaged in medical teachin
nor the profession at large have been unmindful of the evil to which
have attached so michimportanee. Yet it still exietsin all ita foree. That
the colleges have failed to keep themselves adjusted to the needs of the
profession in regard to the length of their annual courses of instruction,
the systematic classification of the branches incladed in their curricu-
loms, the corresponding grading or division of their classes, and the exac-
tion of a reasonable standard of preliminary education, has been still
more fully appreciated and acknow?ed ged.

Not un{}' is this agpraciati:m indicated by the criticisms in our medical
periodicals and the discussions in our medical societies, and by the mova
general efforts of the colleges, sinece 1830, to increase the number of their
professors, and the fulness of their currienlums, by plecing out their
srnon] ecourses of inetruction with two or three weeks of praliminary
lectures at the beginuing, and short epring courses at the end of the reg-
tlar terma—all of which the student might attend or not us he chose—
but in & still more formal munuer by the che:e:linngﬂ of two or threo
conventione of delegates from the various schools, in which all the defecta
here stated relating to preliminary education, inadequate length of the
annual courses of instruction, snd the urgent need of a systematic division
of the branches taught into groups appropriate for each year of study,
and the consequent grading of the classes, with annual exuminations of
each class, have been fully stuted, and a thoraugh plun of remedying them
devised and urgently recommended to the schools for their adoption.

_ The first of the conventions to which I allude was held in Cincinnati,
in May, 1867, and was presided over by the learncd I’rof. Stillg, of the
medical faculty of the {‘Tniverﬂil:y in whose huildings we are assembled
toduy. The second was held in the city of Washington, in May, 1870,
end wus presided over by the justly distinguished head of the facolty of
the Jefferson Medival College of this city. A third convention of less
formal character was held io this eity, in June of the present year. If
rou ask me why these reasonable and highly important recommendations

ave not been adopted by the greater part of theschools, I can only point
you for apswer to the paragraph already quoted tfrom the report on med-
ical education made to the New York State Medical Society, in 1840, by
that learned trio composed of Beck, Manly, and MeCall. Or, more di-
rectly, to the fuct that while the faculty of each school frankly acknowl-
edyes the defects in sdaptation to the present enlargud field of medical
seience and art, and the urgent needs of the profeasion, each waits for
the other to muve first, lest, by placing higher requirements upon the
time and resources of the student, it should cause its own halls to ba de-
serted for those of its less exacting neighbor,

The effurts in this direction, however, have not been entirely fruitless
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of practieal results. In 18539, the Chicagn Medieal College, now the
Mu{lﬁuul Depurtment of the Northwestern Univemity, was arganized for
the express parpose of testing the practieability of establishing u school
with & thorooghly graded and eonsecutive system of instruction, Tts
eurriculum was made to embrace thirteen professorships, arranged in three
groups, one appropriate for each of the thres yeam of study required. The
students attending were correspondingly divided into three elasses,
Jjunior, middle, and senior. Eaeh ¢loss wus required to devore its time
thoroughly to the group of brunches and lectures belonging to its year of
ndvancement in atudy, and to be exaniined fully in those branclies at the
end of the college term. Ench of the three courses was continued six
pionths of the year, and actual attendance on hoapital elinical instruetion,
and practical work in the chemicnl, suntomical, ond .miernscopic, or his
tological Inboratories, was added to the rm}uiﬁiles for eligibility to gradu-
ation. The very satisfactory suceess of this institution during the past
fitteen years, and its present prosperity, certainly demonstrate the prac-
ticubility of the scheme.

In 1871, the medieal school of Harvard University, one of the oldest and
most influential medical inslitutions in our eountry, also sdopted a fully
graded system of instruction, dividing her classes, and extending her
courses of inatruction throughout the collegiate yeur, and hns continued
this plan to the present time, adding annually to the perfection of irs
detuils, and adding also to her own prosperity and influence.  The new
medical echool of Syracuse University, New York, has practically adopted
the same scheme; and the annual announeements of several other medieal
rchaoals, for the present year, including some of the most influential and
important institutions in the country, give unmistukable evidence of
ti;eir having taken initial steps in the direction of this most desirable
change,

Blﬁ: our medieal schools, aided by the work of the private preceptor,
do not constitute the whole educational foree or influence operating upon
the profession in this muntr{, Qur social or suciety organizations, City,
County, District, State, and Nutional, have exerted, throughout the whole
perind of our history, o most potent influence over the edueational inter-
euts of the profession. "We had intended to sketch briefly the bistory of
the more important of these arganizations, but must not trespass further
upon your time and patience ou this ocension, It is sofficient to say that
these snciely organizations, by their annual reunions of the profession in
almost every Stute and important ¢ity in our wide domain ; by the oppor-
tunities they atford for the presentation of papers, and compurison of
views in free discussion, not only in relutien to scieutific amd clinical
watters, but in relation to every juterest whether of medienl science or
mediea] polity, huve exerted judirectly an influence over the ﬁll‘ﬂgrﬂﬂa}. the
e ueation, amd the general charaeter of the profession, hardly second to
thut of the orgunized schools,  And if the profession, as represented in
these sociul arganizations, would boldly move on in the exercise of its
own moat importout right and doty—<by fixing for itself both the stand.
ard of preliminary and professional education necessary for young men to
attuin before admittance into its ranks, nnd h{ appointing the necessury
tribunals for enforcing that stundard, thereby leaving the colleges to their
only legitimate work, thut of imparting instroetion—the latter would
ntﬂ:cdily adjust themselves perfectly to the acvtual eduentionnl needa of
the profession.

Becuuse we have endeavored, o reviewing the progress of vur educa-
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tional institutions during the past century, to indieate what we regand
as their most important defects, let no oune infer that we belong to that
class, who, in any degree, undervalue the past work or present influence
of our medical schools. We do not agree with those w{m would compel
every young man who desires to spend his life in allevinting the sutter
ings of the sparse populations of our mountaine and prairies, to apend the
Lest part of his youth in the vain endeavor to become an adept in the
native languages of Cicero and Hippocrates; nor would we discournge
the lundable ambition of that large and most valuable class of our young
met, who are largely dependent on the proceeds of their own lalor for
their education, as well as for their advancement iu after life, nor fuster
the indolence of the more wealthy by copying the five, six, or seven years
of profesgional eollegiate study from the lustitutions of Europe, Neither
do we atg'rea with those who regard the establishment of a Nutional pro-.
fezsional school by our general government, or the endowment of State
eolleges, with professors aalaried out of public funde, as the panacea for
ourifla. To invoke the patronage of either National or State Govern-
ments, in this eountry, in the mfulur.iou and support of medical schools,
issimply equivalent to asking that the lobbies of every legislative body
in the country ghall be annually filled with the log-rolling satellites of
erery “pathy” and “ism" of the day, that the protessorships of our ca'-
leges shull be transformed into political Sinecures, und that the colleges
themselvea shall Lecome the foot-balls of partisan politiciana.

On the contrary, we believe that cur aystem of medical college instrue-
tion, with all its defects, bas deveinpcj iu strict consonsnce with the
epirit of & free and enlightencd pqg(i.lu, in the comparutively short period
of e hundred years, a body of medical men as 1:n'ii.g;htu':m:tl’ltf euterprising,
industrious, nnd self:sacrificing, as faithful to the interests of the peaple,
snd animated by as noble an esprit de corps, as is to be found inany country
on the globe. And not only so, but that these eame schools Lave done
their full share in ereating and sustaining that progress in medieal science
and literature, which has been demonstrated to this Congress so fully in
the most intersting Addressea to which we have listened, on the various
dejartments of medical science and art.

Let us, then, in the same selt'reliant, independent a};irit, which actuated
these who founded, and with the same untiring zenl and generons emu-
lation which characterized the host of others who have sustnined and
developed, the medical iustitutions of our country thus fur, endeavor to
manage wisely the high truet they Lhave left us,  Let us neither be blinded
by reverence for the past, nor be fretful with impatience beenuse clearly
perceived evils will not flee at our bidding, nor yet, with ehildish wenk-
nes, eall on the Hercules of government to do our work for us; but let
u with boldnesa yet persevering steadiness of purpose, mrr{ furward our
tdueational orgunizations, both ecollegiate and aocial, enlarging their
foundations, improving their adjustments, and adding to their super-
structure; and we shall thereby most certainly enable those who come
after us in celebrating the noxt centennial auniversary of our national
progress, to review our work with the same pleasure and profit that we
derive to-day, in contemplating the works uudp characters of those whose
names are an honor to the century which has just possed.
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